
Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
 

AGENDA 
 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024 @ 7:00 PM 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 
Board Members:             Alternate Board Members     Staff Members: 
Chairman David Campbell            Alternate Todd Albert             Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  
Vice-Chairman Kurt Belsten            Alternate Jason Judge      Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member April Evans           Building Official Robert Bitgood 
Member Dan Harper 
Member Gabor Kishegyi 
 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal any 
decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to ensure such 
a record is made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town does not do so. 
In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special 
accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 724-
5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

2. ROLL CALL 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
A. September 3, 2024 minutes 

 

4. NEW BUSINESS 
A. Discussion on Town codes related to fill and building height 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

6. OLD BUSINESS 
A. Discussion on accessory structure requirements  
B. Discussion on code revisions to 9A Landscaping and Trees  

 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT 
Please limit comments to items that are not on the agenda 

 

8. REPORTS: TOWN MANAGER AND TOWN ATTORNEY 
 

9. ITEMS TO BE ADDED TO THE AGENDA FOR FUTURE MEETINGS 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

1



1 

 

Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

MINUTES 
 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 3, 2024 @ 6:30 PM 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

 
Board Members:                    Alternate Board Members      Staff Members: 

Chairman David Campbell                 Alternate Todd Albert          Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  

Vice-Chairman Kurt Belsten        Alternate Jason Judge   Town Clerk Amber Brown 

Member April Evans        Building Official Robert Bitgood 

Member Dan Harper 

Member Gabor Kishegyi 

 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal any 

decision made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to ensure 

such a record is made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town does not do 

so. 

In accordance with the Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special 

accommodations for this meeting shall, at least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 724-

5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

 

 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

 

Vice Chairman Kurt Belsten called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 

 

2. ROLL CALL 

 

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted the roll call. 

 

Present:       Staff Present:     

Vice-Chairman Kurt Belsten   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  

Member April Evans    Building Official Robert Bitgood  

Member Dan Harper    Town Clerk Amber Brown  

Member Gabor Kishegyi   

Alternate Todd Albert 

 

Absent: 

Chairman David Campbell 

Alternate Jason Judge 

 

2



2 

 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. July 16, 2024 minutes 

 

Member April Evans made a motion to approve; Alternate Todd Albert seconded; Motion carried 

5-0. 

 

4. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Site plan approval for 1609 Atlantic St – new home 

 

Member April Evans made a motion to approve; Member Gabor Kishegyi seconded; Motion 

carried 5-0. 

 

B. Discussion on accessory structure requirements  

 

Member April Evans spoke about putting this item on the agenda to discuss 

requirements for bigger structures not pergolas or gazebos. She has an issue with fully 

enclosed air-conditioned accessory structures that are larger than a single-car garage 

roughly 18 by 22 or 24. Something along those lines. Has concerns when we start 

getting into in excess of 500 square feet and they are putting in bathrooms and it is 

not a pool cabana. Have them apply for a variance if need be. 

 

Alternate Todd Albert spoke about agreeing with Member April Evans to at least have 

something for them to think about. However, if there is a 3000 square foot single story 

home he would be okay with a 1000 square foot single story accessory structure. 

 

Member Dan Harper spoke about some other municipalities limit the size to fifty 

percent of the main structure, or you could add area constraints to control the size. 

Such as language stating it must be behind the main building.  

 

Vice Chairman Kurt Belsten spoke about another way to restrict the size would be to 

increase the minimum pervious.  

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about how he has seen other municipalities 

have a percentage of the square footage, or a percentage with a maximum size.  

 

Member April Evans spoke about not being in favor of doing a percentage of the main 

structure because it would limit people in a 1000 square foot home versus someone 

with a 3000 square foot. The concern is that the use will become an auxiliary dwelling. 

If the plans do not label the accessory structure as a living area then the Board cannot 

deny it, even if everything about the plans looks like the structure will become a living 

dwelling. 

 

Member Dan Harper asked if there is evidence of this happening. Is there any short-

term rentals in Melbourne Beach that are in an accessory structure. He would like to 

see the data.  

3



3 

 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about when he does plan review he can only 

review what the architect or draft person labels the room. It could become an issue if 

the plans label it a game room, and after it is finished they turn it into a living area. 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about 702 Oak St is a short-term rental that 

states it is owner-occupied and you can rent out the main house, and there is a 

detached structure. 

 

Member April Evans spoke about another property in the area of Avenue A, Avenue B, 

or Sunset and they are not self-reporting. 

 

Member Dan Harper spoke about wanting to monitor and collect data to know if it is a 

problem before making any decisions. However, he is not against the idea. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about the requirements right now is no taller or 

larger than the primary structure. 

 

Vice Chairman Kurt Belsten spoke about reviewing the pervious vs impervious, 

maximum size, and a percentage of the primary structure.  

 

Member April Evans spoke about not wanting to wait until it is too late.  

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about he has resigned as the Building Official, so 

there might be the opportunity going forward for the Board to see those types of 

permits. 

 

Vice Chairman Kurt Belsten spoke about having the Board review the percentage of 

pervious, overall size limitation, the ratio of the existing structure and accessory 

structure, and a possible combination of all. 

 

Member April Evans made a motion for Dan Harper to approach the Commission to share the 

Boards ideas and statements made during this meeting; Alternate Todd Albert seconded; Motion 

carried 5-0. 

 

C. Discussion on code revisions to 9A Landscaping and Trees  

 

Member Dan harper spoke about it not always being practical to replace tree for tree. 

Eliminate the tree for tree replacement requirement. Retain the tree density before 

and after provisions, and keep the oak tree requirement. 

 

Member April Evans spoke about agreeing with Member Dan Harper. If a new home is 

bigger than the old one then of course you cannot fit the same amount of trees.  

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about including clarification on palm trees.  

4



4 

 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about it might be easier to list what types of 

trees need to be replanted versus what ones count or not. 

 

Member April Evans made a motion for Dan Harper to inform the Commission that the Board 

agrees that the part of the Code saying you have to replace tree for tree should be eliminated 

based on square footage available; Alternate Todd Albert seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Asked if there was a resolution about how to measure 

building height.  

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about the Town Code does not specify because 

it says to follow FEMA’s recommendations which does not have a maximum. Can look 

into having a maximum, but it could affect the 5-year Community Rating System (CRS) 

which might significantly affect insurance rates.  

 

Tim Reed – 302 Fourth Ave – Spoke about having the Board get data to see what other 

municipalities are doing related to accessory structures. How does tree density get 

calculated and what records are there on it.  

 

Bruce Larson – 1507 Pine St – Spoke about accessory structures and if that includes 

gazebos and the like, clean up the language related to oak trees to make it consistent. 

Nuisance trees should not be counted towards the density calculation. There are 6-7 

things in the Code that the Board cannot enforce, but that the Board should mandate 

are being done. There are a lot of open holes in the code. 

 

Member April Evans spoke about it would only include enclosed structures. Spoke 

about the Planning and Zoning Board does not do enforcement, and the trees on 

public land would be outside of the Boards scope. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about and provided a copy of email 

communications regarding the 1609 Atlantic St home being exempt from needing a 

DEP permit because they are keeping the same footprint. 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

6. OLD BUSINESS 

 

7. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

8. REPORTS: TOWN MANAGER AND TOWN ATTORNEY 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the desire of the Commission is for the 

Board to meet monthly whether there is anything on the agenda or not. 

 

5



5 

 

Member Dan Harper spoke about it being ridiculous to expect the Board to go through the 

entire Code without a clear direction. 

 

Member April Evans spoke about the last time this was done took 3 years to complete. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Board can start with the two current 

items and proceed from there. 

 

Alternate Todd Albert spoke about asking the Commission if there are specific items 

within the Code that they would like reviewed.  

 

Member April Evans asked if the Board has permission to engage the Town Attorney and 

Town Planner. 

 

Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro spoke about the Board having permission to engage the 

Town Attorney and Town Planner.  

 

Alternate Todd Albert asked if there are specific items that the Building Official thinks 

needs to be looked at. 

 

Building Official Robert Bitgood spoke about clarifying the height of buildings. Also, a 

private provider will most likely be coming in, so he is concerned about having someone 

closely looking at the small details.  

 

9. ITEMS TO BE ADDED TO THE AGENDA FOR FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

Vegetation ordinance and accessory structures. 

 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

 

Member April Evans motioned to adjourn; Member Dan Harper seconded; Motion carried 5-0. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 7:34 p.m. 

 

 

        ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________    ______________________________ 

David Campbell, Chairman     Amber Brown, Town Clerk  

 

6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



Memo to: Planning & Zoning Board 

Subject: Tree cutting & replacement ordinance  

From: Member Dan Harper 

Issue—current ordinance calls for a tree for tree replacement 

on the house tear-down and rebuild lots (Sec. 9A-7(c).  This has 

proven to be impractical given the substantial increase in 

footprint of the new home. 

History—Chapter 9A: Landscape and Trees was modified in 

March of 2023 as it relates to tree retention.  The before and 

after of this modification is as follows. 

Before; (1) minimum of three trees must exist (9A-7 (a)). 

              (2) tree density after construction must be equal or     

greater than pre-construction (9A-6 (b)(2)). 

After;    (1) minimum of three trees was deleted. 

              (2) any tree removed must be replaced, tree for tree 

requirement (9A-7 (c)).  

Community Survey--A drive by of new homes built on tear down 

lots prior to the March modifications demonstrated no lack of 

tree retention. The post construction landscapes’ all have tree 

densities consistent with their neighboring homes and added to 

the goal of preserving and enhancing property values. See list 

below with tree estimates: 

    Number of Trees 

 401 A1A      6+  

 404 Atlantic     8+ 

26



 400 Banyan   10+ 

 422 Sunset   12+ 

 527 Sunset   13+ 

 507 Sunset   13+ 

 520 Sunset     7+ 

 524 Sunset   15+ 

 303 Riverside   10+ 

 901 Riverside     9+ 

 509 Third    16+ 

 419 Ave B   16+ 

 418 Ave B   25+ 

 404 Ave B   17+ 

 307 Ave B   16+ 

 401 Ave A   10+ 

 522 Ave A   14+ 

 225 Fourth   14+ 

 208 Second     5+ 

 202 Second   12+ 

 304 First       8+ 

 

Neighboring/similar communities tree removal ordinances: 

 City of Melbourne (Sec 9.272 (b) (17), all trees located on 

properties with existing single dwellings are exempted 

from tree removal provisions. 

 Winter Park (Sec 58-284 (a), palm trees are exempted 

from tree removal provisions. 

27



 Satellite Beach (Sec. 30-702 (c) (1), permit required for 

removal of “protected tree”, may require relocation of 

tree. Protected tree not defined.  

 Orange County (Sec 15-279) (8), trees located on single 

family lots are exempted from tree removal provisions. 

 Indian Harbor (Sec 107.36) Definitions-- excludes palms 

from “protected tree”.   

 Brevard County (Sec. 62-4334 (2), single family lots that 

are 1.25 acres or less are exempt. 

 

Citizen input--Many citizens have spoken at Town Commission 

meetings about the need/desire to retain oak trees (Town 

Commission minutes).   Other municipalities and counties 

reviewed reflected a desire to retain oak and other canopy trees 

where possible.  Citizens have also voiced their desire to retain 

as many trees as possible (Town Commission minutes). 

Melbourne Beach Comprehensive Plan-- “Periodically review, 

analyze, and amend, as determined necessary, the tree 

preservation and landscape ordinances to ensure that minimum 

standards are consistent with the desires of the community, are 

easily understood and enforceable” (Policy 14.1). 

 

 

 

 

 

28



Summary of findings  

 The tree for tree replacement requirement in many 

instances has proven to not be practical. 

   The tree density provision was adequately working prior   

to the March 2023 ordinance modification. 

 Sampled other communities did not have tree for tree 

requirements. 

 Melbourne Beach citizens strongly desired the replanting of 

all Oak trees removed. 

 Maintaining tree density requirements is consistent with 

the Melbourne Beach comprehensive plan. 

 

Recommendation 

Make the following change to the Chapter 9A: Landscape and 

Trees. 

 Section 9A-7(C), delete the second sentence, “Any trees 

that are removed for new construction shall be replaced by 

the same or similar species”. 

 

29



Submitted by Dan Harper, Member P&Z,  11-01-2024 

 

Chapter 1A Land Development Code 

Section 1A-3 Definitions 

 

Tree Density-The pervious square ft. of a lot divided by 

the number of trees on the lot. 

 

Recommendation to added the above definition of Tree 

Density to the Land Development Code (Sec 1A-3)  

30



Planning and Zoning Meeting  

Submittal from Environmental Advisory Board 

November 6, 2024 

 

Sections: 9A-2; 9A-6; 9A-7; 9A-8; 9A-10; 9A-12; 11A-2; 7A-31 

Meeting Date: 11/12/24 

From: Environmental Advisory Board 

RE: Cutting down of mature native trees 

Background Information:  

We have observed many mature native trees being taken down, seemingly 

unnecessarily. Town residence have approached us to find out what is going on. 

 Many clear-cut/nearly clear-cut lots around town. 

 Two very old scrub oaks taken down at 322 Fourth Ave, on Oak St, taken down 

where a new fence was installed, though likely at least one of these extremely 

slow-growing native trees could have remained in part. 

 Two very large oak trees removed at 314 Third Ave. (Owner stated this was for 

insurance reasons.) 

 Several large oaks/gumbo limbos at ~506 Third Ave. 

 Several mangroves have been removed north and south of the Third Avenue 

river access. 

Recommendations:  

9A-2 
The intent of this article is to preserve trees whenever and wherever they exist and to 
provide trees wherever they are sparse or do not exist, thus enhancing the health, 
welfare and beautification of the Town. 
 

 More specifics on the benefits of trees like flood control, filters the air, 
reduce stormwater runoff etc. 

 “intent to include encouragement of...  ‘Florida Friendly Landscaping’ and 
‘Florida Native Landscaping’ ”- Weak to have only the intuition written here 
and should be specified within specific sections. 

 
9A-6 (b) (1) a 
 
The tree is located in a buildable area or yard where a structure or improvements may 
be placed where inability to remove the tree would unreasonably restrict the permitted 

31



use of the property and the tree removal has been authorized by the Town as part of a 
site plan review 
 

 “where…improvements may be placed…” Is building a perimeter fence an 

acceptable reason for removal? Personal observation of two very, very old 

scrub oaks being taken down for a fence at 322 Fourth Avenue. Fence 

should be required to work around such growth that can not be replaced in 

many generations. 

 
9A-6 (b) (2)    
Relocation or replacement. As a condition to the granting of a permit, the 
applicant may be required, where practical, to relocate the tree being removed or be 
required to replace the tree being removed with a tree somewhere within the site of the 
type that will attain an overall height of at least twelve feet (12’) and have a trunk caliper 
of at two inches (2”) at planting, measured four and one-half feet (4.5’) above grade. 
The green areas left after all building and parking lot requirements have been met shall 
contain a tree density equal to or greater than that existing on the overall site before the 
beginning of construction. 
 

 2” caliper is weak and should be larger. 

 Specify native trees where native or Florida friendly trees. 

 Provide motivation for native trees (maybe with lesser size requirements). 
 
 
9A-7 (b) (7) 
Replacement of landscaping material shall occur within 60 days, unless said time is 
extended by the Town Manager for good cause shown. 
 

 Short-term and long-term (year-out?) follow up with fines for not 

establishing and assuring replacement trees as code requires 

9A-7 (b) (10) 
Clusters of three palms shall be an acceptable substitute for up to 50% of the 
required canopy trees and 50% of the required ornamental trees. 
 

 Too much emphasis on palms. Exclude palms as meeting tree 
requirements. 

 Focus on oak or similar native replacements, which support a great amount 

of wildlife.  

 
9A-8 (a) (1) 
Only land-clearing is permitted within the drip line of the tree to be protected. Tree 
survival. Trees must survive on-site in a viable condition. Trees failing to meet this 

32



survival requirement must be replaced within 45 days after a written notification is 
received by the property owner from the town. 
 

 Who is checking to make sure the drip line is being protected during 
clearing? 

 
9A-10 (d)    
The types of trees included on the current Florida Noxious Weed List and Florida 
Exotic Pest Council’s List of Invasive Plant Species shall be exempt from the terms and 
provisions of this article and shall not be used to meet any replacement or planting 
requirements. 
 

 Is code enforcement very familiar with the lists above and can visually spot 
invasive or noxious weeds or have a reliable source in Town that they can 
consult? 

 
9A-12 
The improper removal of each tree shall constitute a separate offense under this 
chapter. Violation of this chapter and imposition of the penalty shall be determined and 
imposed by the Code Enforcement Special Magistrate or by a court of proper 
jurisdiction. 
 

 Spell out the general fines as a deterrent. This is too vague and doesn’t 
sound serious. 

 Make violation fine amount significant enough such that they are not 
ignored. 

 
11A-2 (a)   
During the review of a site plan or any other plan for development, the Town 
Manager shall use the Natural Wetlands Inventory maps, the Brevard County Soil 
Survey, the Town Comprehensive Plan, aerial photography or other applicable data in 
order to determine the potential existence of wetlands on or adjacent to the site. 
 
11A-2 (b)   
 If a review of the above documents indicates that wetlands may exist on or 
adjacent to the site, an inspection will be performed by the Town Manager. 
 

 Is the Town Manager an expert in Wetlands evaluation? 
 
7A-31 through 35 

 Disallow zero-lot-line construction 

 

 

33



Additional suggestions: 

 Create a tree bank, where the money collected from fines for cutting mature 

native trees would be used toward new growth 

 Require a 2 for 1 hard wood replacement requirement, given typical slow 

growth rate 

 Provide special considerations (steeper fines?) for the removal of very old 

native species (e.g. scrub oak; native species great than specified size) 

which will be impossible to replace for many generations 

 Increase the fines to a much larger amount to ensure native mature trees 
are properly protected. 

 Allow the homeowner a scorecard – you can do some of this and some of 
that – to give some flexibility to get to the end goal 

 Require the Town to have a tree survey completed every five years.  This 
could be accomplished by aerial observation. 

 Require the Town to have a certified arborist on staff or on contract to 
assist on decision making and to answer questions. 

 Require a set percentage of plantings of trees and scrubs to be native to 
our area. 

 Add landscape plan review before “clearing” and after, with, oversight, 
requiring the landscape beyond just the trees to be 50% native. Utilize and 
provide local resources for trees, plants, landscaping. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

34


	241112 PnZ Agenda.pdf (p.1)
	240903 PNZ Draft Minutes.pdf (p.2-6)
	Codes on Building Height.pdf (p.7-21)
	P&Z memo re accessory structures.pdf (p.22-25)
	Tree memo July 2024.pdf (p.26-29)
	Tree Density.pdf (p.30)
	Planning and Zoning Meeting Submittal 11-6-24.pdf (p.31-34)

